Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-2-2016

Bailey v. Peritus 1 Assets Management, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44357

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a breach of contract dispute primarily concerning the interpretation of the Statute of Frauds original obligation exception Idaho Code § 9-506(2) and the "Main Purpose Rule." Bailey contends the trial court erred when it found as a matter of law that the contractual arrangement was intended to be a guaranty. Bailey contends AMF and Peritus were joint debtors in a surety relationship.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Bailey filed a complaint for breach of written and oral contracts and intentional infliction of emotional distress claims against his employer, a start-up company, American Medical File, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "AMF"), Peritus I Asset Management, LLC (hereinafter referred to as "Peritus"), the company financing the start-up AMF, and Ronald J. Heller, David J. Desmond, and William R. Espinosa, individuals and officers of AMF and Peritus. The Defendants all filed motions to dismiss based on the pleadings. The Court dismissed the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim on the pleadings and dismissed the contract claims against the individual defendants finding the individuals signed the contracts "as representatives of Peritus I Asset Management and/or members of the Board of Directors of American Medical File." (R, pp. 000048 – 49.)

This dispute was set for trial to commence July 19, 2016. A Notice of Bankruptcy filing by AMF was filed with the Court May 26, 2015, and therefore all claims against AMF were stayed. Peritus filed its Motion for Summary Judgment March 21, 2016, claiming "Bailey's claim that Peritus promised to pay wages owed by AMF does not satisfy the Statute of Frauds." (R, p. 00268) Bailey filed an Affidavit of Shawn Bailey and a Memorandum of Law Opposing Summary Judgment contending, "the Statute of Frauds does not apply to original obligations per I.C. § 9–506 and the "Main Purpose Rule" adopted by the Idaho Supreme Court. (R, pp. 000281-284). On May 11, 2016, Bailey filed a Motion to Amend Complaint attaching a proposed Amended Complaint which specifically plead I.C. § 9–506(2). (R, pp. 000331-352.)

After a hearing May 19, 2016, the Court entered an Order Granting Summary Judgment to Peritus (R, pp. 000362-372) and an Order Denying Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint (R, pp. 999373-376) on the basis that the contract was a guaranty and that the Statute of Frauds precluded recovery against Peritus. A Judgment was entered June 14, 2016. Bailey filed a Notice of Appeal July 22, 2016 (R, p. 000383).

C. CONCISE STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Three Parties to the Written and Oral Contracts.

(a) AMF

American Medical File (herein referred to as "AMF") was incorporated in California November 7, 2001 by Joel Rayden and Scot Anderson for the purpose of

developing personal health record (PHR) software for use in the medical and health insurance industries. (See Aff. Of Shawn Bailey, para. 15 – 17, R, p. 000307).

In 2004 a few of Peritus' clients became interested in investing in AMF so Peritus formed a limited partnership entity as a vehicle to invest in AMF. Peritus formed the Peritus Global Opportunity Fund Limited Partnership which invested \$6.45 million in AMF in addition to a "bridge loan." When AMF defaulted by failing to repay the bridge loan in 2005 the Peritus Fund (hereinafter referred to as "PGO Fund") foreclosed and became the owner of a majority of AMF stock. (See Aff. of Ronald Heller, para. 4, R, p. 000224.)

In 2008 the PGO Fund stopped investing in AMF and dissolved. The AMF shares held by the PGO fund were distributed on a pro-rated basis back to the Peritus clients. (See Aff. of Ronald Heller, para. 5, R, p. 000224.)

After December 31, 2008, Peritus itself began making direct loans to fund AMF. (Aff. of Ron Heller, para. 6, R, p. 000224.) Between August 4, 2008, and September 12, 2011, Peritus loaned AMF at least \$842,350.00. Bailey was personally aware of the cash Peritus supplied to AMF to pay overhead expenses on a monthly basis. Peritus employees told Bailey at times Peritus was making loans and at other times buying stock. Bailey did not see any formal loan agreements and none were produced by Peritus in this litigation to Bailey's knowledge. (Aff. of Shawn Bailey, para. 21, R, pp. 000309-10.)

Bailey estimated AMF's "burn rate" of funds was approximately \$40,000.00 per month for employees, rent, consultants, and other operating expenses. Although not all bills got paid, Peritus raised substantial sums of money, largely from its clients, to pay AMF overhead. (Aff. of Shawn Bailey, para. 20, R, p. 000309 and Exhibit "C," R, pp. 000319-321.)

AMF filed bankruptcy and the Court in this case was notified May 26, 2015 (R, p. 00004.)

(b) PERITUS

Peritus is an investment advisory company that provides investment management services to investors. Peritus advises clients on investment opportunities and is paid a fee for its advice and for managing client investments. (Aff. of Ronald Heller, para. 3, R, p. 000224).

Peritus employee R. J. Dundas worked for both Peritus and as the "AMF pro tem CEO" when he recruited Bailey to work at AMF in late 2005. (R, p. 000305, Aff. of Shawn Bailey, para. 9.) Bailey met with Peritus employees R. J. Dundas, David Desmond, and Tim Gramatovich in Santa Barbara, California for his job interview in February 2006. Bailey received a job offer March 10, 2006, to work at AMF. The job offer was made by Ronald J. Heller as President of Peritus I Asset Management, LLC, Managing Director Peritus Global Opportunity Fund, LP, and David Desmond as Chief Operating Officer Peritus I Asset Management, LLC. (R, pp. 000315 – 16) (R, p. 000306, para. 13.) While Bailey was employed at AMF, AMF business generated

revenues of only \$2,500.00 per month. Peritus made loans and invested client money into AMF to meet its financial obligations (estimated to be \$37,500.00 per month. \$40,000.00 per month overhead less \$2,500.00 per month AMF revenue.) (R, p. 000308, para. 18 and 19.) Over time, Peritus failed to make contributions to AMF to pay Bailey's salary. By late July or early August 2011, Bailey was owed \$95,000.00 in back pay. (R, pp. 000308-309, para. 19 and 20.) Bailey guit working for AMF in late July 2011 due to the \$95,000.00 in back pay. Peritus officers Ronald Heller and David Desmond contacted Bailey and requested him to return to work. Bailey told them he would not return to work until he received a written contract signed by Peritus in which Peritus was obligated to fund Bailey's salary at AMF. Bailey was provided a written contract of employment signed by Ronald J. Heller, President of Peritus I Asset Management, LLC, and David Desmond, Chief Operating Officer of Peritus I Asset Management, LLC. (R, pp. 000325-26.) In Bailey's opinion, the contract was drafted by Heller and Desmond. (R, p. 000311, para. 25.) Based upon all of the circumstances surrounding the creation of the contract including the discussions, the prior letter offer of employment (2006), Peritus' history of funding AMF operations (2004 – 2011), and the written employment contract provided to Bailey in 2011, Bailey understood Peritus was obligated to fund Bailey's compensation. Bailey would not have returned to work at AMF without the written contract signed by the Peritus officers. (R. p. 000311, para. 25 -26.)

(c) <u>BAILEY</u>

In late 2005 Bailey was employed at Saint Alphonsus Regional Medical Center and was tasked with the responsibility to convert patient health records (PHR's) from paper files to secure online patient health records. While at St. Alphonsus, Bailey recommended the purchase of the AMF software system. St. Alphonsus was one of the pioneers in using the AMF PHR system. (R, pp. 000304-305). As a result of that experience with AMF, Bailey eventually received an offer of employment from Ronald J. Heller, President of Peritus I Asset Management, LLC and David J. Desmond Chief Operating Officer of Peritus I Asset Management, LLC. (R, p. 000306, para. 13 and Ex. "A", R, pp. 000315-16). Bailey worked at AMF from April 1, 2006, until he left March 20, 2013 as a result of missed compensation payments between October 31, 2012 and March 20, 2013. (R., p. 000312, para. 27 – 28.) Bailey contends he is entitled to \$40,119.05 for payments missed after January 1, 2012, plus \$300,000.00 in severance benefits under the written contract. (R, p. 000313.)

2. AMF and Peritus Were Jointly Obligated to Pay Bailey.

Although AMF was a separate corporation from Peritus, it is clear Peritus was the source of funding and managing the start-up venture. Peritus created the PGO Fund in 2004 which invested \$6.45 million in AMF and extended a "bridge loan" in an unknown amount. After the PGO Fund was dissolved in 2008, Peritus continued to loan money to AMF.

 After the PGO Fund dissolved, Peritus began loaning funds to AMF. Those loans, along with loans from other
 APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 6 non-Peritus sources, are reflected in financial reports prepared by AMF's outside accountant. (Aff. of Ronald Heller, R, p. 000224, para 6 and Exhibits "A" and "B" attached (R, pp. 000228 – 252.))

The balance sheet Heller submitted shows AMF's long term liabilities totaling \$15,076,946.88. Peritus clients invested \$6,950,000.00 through the PGO Fund Peritus created and then dissolved. Peritus itself shows \$811,852.06 loaned on the balance sheet as of September 30, 2011 (R, p. 000246). Bailey claims Peritus was "managing AMF" when he became employed at AMF and that in 2006 Peritus committed to "fund the expansion of AMF after April 1, 2006," and that between April 2007 and October 10, 2011, "Peritus was solely responsible for raising funds from investors to finance the business." (R, p. 000308)

Bailey's understanding of the Peritus commitment to fund and manage AMF is corroborated by the written letters sent to Bailey from Peritus. His initial employment offer dated March 10, 2006, was only signed by Ronald Heller and David Desmond in their Peritus and/or PGO capacities. (R, pp. 000315-16)

After Bailey quit in July 2011 due to non-payment of his salary, Heller and Desmond contacted Bailey requesting him to return to work. In the conversations preceding the written letter contract Bailey claims:

23. I was contacted by Ron Heller and Dave Desmond of Peritus and they requested I return to work. I told them I would not return to work until I received a written contract signed by Peritus in which Peritus was obligated to fund my salary.

* * * *

24. Attached as Exhibit "E" (and also attached to the Complaint) is the written and signed contract Peritus provided to me which they represented fulfilled my demand for a binding contract from Peritus to ensure payment of my salary. I understood I was an employee of the start-up company AMF but that Peritus was obligated to fund my employment by virtue of the contract Peritus President, Ronald Heller and Peritus COO, David Desmond, signed . . . (R, p. 000310)

As stated in Bailey's affidavit, Bailey's understanding of the contract making AMF and Peritus joint obligors is entirely consistent with the course of conduct after April 1, 2006, the verbal discussions and the written correspondence and contracts signed by AMF, Peritus, and Bailey. Bailey contends the arrangement does not fall within the Statute of Frauds because of the "Main Purpose Rule" and I.C. § 9-506(2) "surety exception" to the Statute of Frauds.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Bailey contends the trial court erred when it denied Bailey's motion to amend his complaint to specifically allege the "Main Purpose Rule: and I.C. § 9-506(2) surety exception to the Statute of Frauds affirmative defense.
 - 2. The trial court misinterpreted the Statute of Frauds "Main Purpose Rule."
 - 3. The trial court misinterpreted I.C. § 9-506(2) surety exception.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

This is a commercial transaction. The prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of attorney fees per I.C. § 12-120(3). <u>Mickelsen Construction, Inc. v. Horrocks</u>, 154 Idaho 396, 299 P.3d 203, 212 (2013).

IV.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews a grant of summary judgment under the same standard the district court used in relying on the motion. Peritus had the burden to prove there was no genuine issue of any material fact and is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Wright v. Ada County, Docket No. 42999 (2016 Opinion No. 74). The Supreme Court exercises free review over issues of law. Buckskin Properties, Inc. v. Valley County, 154 Idaho 486, 490, 300 P.3d 18, 22 (2013).

Where the evidence is all in the form of depositions, affidavits, and documents, the trial court's findings of fact are not binding on the Supreme Court. <u>D & M</u>

<u>Development Company v. Sherwood and Roberts, Inc.</u>, 92 Idaho 200 at 204 (1969).

In every contract there are both express and implied terms.

In every contract there exist not only the express promises set forth in the contract but all such implied provisions as are necessary to effectuate the intention of the parties, and as arise from the specific circumstances under which the contract was made.

Davis v. Professional Business Services, 109 Idaho 810 at 813 (1985).

In this case the agreement of the parties is established by conduct, oral promises and written documents as well as the financial circumstances of AMF and Peritus. A review of all evidence by the trier of fact is warranted to establish intent.

This Court has consistently held that it cannot make the contract for the parties, and that it is only when interpretation of ambiguous terms of a contract is required, are questions of fact presented for determination.

Minidoka Co. v. Krueger, 88 Idaho 395, 416 (1965).

The written contract at issue in this case as well as the course of performance establishes a joint obligation by AMF and Peritus to pay Bailey. AMF and Peritus signed the contract,. Peritus admits both Peritus and AMF supplied funds to pay Bailey throughout the course of their relationship. There is no evidence of a "guaranty relationship."

The main distinction between a contract of guaranty and a contract of suretyship is that a surety is typically jointly and severally liable with the principal obligor on an obligation to which they are both bound, while a guarantor typically contracts to fulfill an obligation upon the default of the principal obligor. Restatement (Third) of Suretyship and Guaranty § 1, cmt. C. (1996).

Valley National Bank v. Greenwich Ins. Co., 254 F.2d 448 at 453 (S.D.N.Y 2003.)

V.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. AMENDMENT OF COMPLAINT.

Procedurally this case is similar to Mickelsen Construction, Inc. v. Horrocks, 154 Idaho 396, 299 P.3d 203 (2013) where the Plaintiff argued on appeal that I.C. § 9-APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 10

506(2) applied as an exception to the Statute of Frauds. However, in the complaint, Mickelsen had claimed Horrocks' promise to pay Mickelson was a "guaranty." The Supreme Court ruled the two concepts were "mutually exclusive" and disallowed the argument noting:

If a plaintiff facing a motion for summary judgment decides it has alleged the wrong claim for relief or wants to raise another claim, the plaintiff must amend its complaint. Because Mickelsen Construction did not do so in this case, its argument that Ms. Horrocks was not a guarantor but instead was a principal debtor cannot be considered on appeal.

Mickelsen Construction, Inc. v. Horrocks, 154 Idaho 396 at ____, 299 P.3d 203 at 212. (2013)

Unlike Mickelsen, Bailey followed the precise procedure set forth by this Court in Mickelsen. After Peritus filed its Summary Judgment Motion relying on Bailey's general allegation of a "guarantee" (R, 00012, para. 11), Bailey filed a motion to amend his complaint to raise the I.C. § 9-506(2) surety defense to the Statute of Frauds. (See R, p. 000338, para. 12, and R, p. 000341, para. 26, 29, and R, p. 000341 para. 30 – 32.) Therefore, Bailey timely raised the original obligation "surety" claim and "Main Purpose Rule" issues. Bailey contends a guaranty and surety arrangement are oftentimes confused and are generally similar according to many legal scholars. The initial pleading error should not prevent the court from deciding a dispute on the merits.

Not to belabor the issue, but Bailey contends this Court should reconsider its wording in Mickelsen which results in illogical pleading requirements for claimants asserting breach of contract claims. Bailey contends his original pleading properly set APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 11

forth a breach of contract cause of action which is all that is required in a complaint. A copy of the written contract was attached and incorporated in the complaint. It is illogical to require a claimant to assert in its complaint an exception to an affirmative defense. The Statute of Frauds is an affirmative defense. See I.R.C.P. 8(c)(1)(P).

- (C.) Affirmative defenses.
 - In general. In responding to a pleading, a party must affirmatively state any avoidance or affirmative defense, including;
 - (P) statue of frauds;

In the event a defendant raises the Statute of Frauds affirmative defense, all parties are on notice of that issue. Either party can thereafter address the affirmative defense in a summary judgment motion where an exception will undoubtedly arise. It is illogical to require a plaintiff to assert in a complaint an exception to an affirmative defense when the claimant contends the Statute of Frauds does not apply. Again, the Statute of Frauds is an affirmative defense, a burden on the defendant. It has always been Bailey's position that the written, signed contract is outside the Statute of Frauds. The promise by Peritus to pay was an enforceable oral agreement to which the Statute of Frauds does not apply.

Further, a party may specifically and expressly make inconsistent claims like surety vs. guaranty. Inconsistent pleadings are allowed by Supreme Court rule.

I.R.C.P 8(d)(3) Inconsistent claims or defenses. A party may state as many separate claims or defenses as it has, regardless of consistency. (Emphasis added.)

To be clear, when I drafted the complaint claiming that "Peritus would guarantee payment of Bailey's salary" on or about April 12, 2007, the word "guarantee" was used as a synonym of "assurance." Further, it referred to a 2007 oral agreement, not the written 2011 agreement and the oral "assurances" which are the subject of this lawsuit. Counsel respectfully requests the Court to reconsider the intent of "notice pleading." The Statute of Frauds issue is an affirmative defense that must be raised by the Defendant. If the defense does not raise the defense it is waived. Requiring the claimant to raise the affirmative defense and then also raise the defense that the Statute of Frauds does not apply creates an unfair burden on the Plaintiff. In effect it requires the Plaintiff to raise an affirmative defense that the Plaintiff contends does not apply.

B. THE PROMISE OF PERITUS DOES NOT FALL WITHIN THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS PURSUANT TO THE "MAIN PURPOSE RULE."

The "Main Purpose Rule" is a universally accepted rule of law. When an oral promise is made by a "third party" to pay a creditor of the original promisor in order to advance the economic interest of the third party, the promise is not within the Statute of Frauds. This has been the law in the U.S. since at least 1891 and is still the law as reflected by the Restatement of Contracts (Second).

§116 Main Purpose: Advantage to Surety. A contract that all or part of a duty of a third person to the promise shall be satisfied is not within the Statute of Frauds as a promise to answer for the duty of another if the consideration for the promise is in fact or apparently desired by the promisor mainly for his own economic advantage, rather than in order to benefit the third person.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 116 (1981).

The Restatement explains the rationale for the rule which is perfectly rational and logical. If a third person makes a promise for his own benefit, he really isn't a "third person" because he has a financial benefit not unlike the primary debtor.

a. Rationale. This section states what is often called the "main purpose" or "leading object" rule. Where the surety-promisor's main purpose is his own pecuniary or business advantage, the gratuitous or sentimental element often present in suretyship is eliminated, the likelihood of disproportion in the values exchanged between promisor and promise is reduced, and the commercial context commonly provides evidentiary safeguards. Thus, there is less need for cautionary or evidentiary formality than in other cases of suretyship.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 116 a. Rationale.

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