Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-28-2016

Bailey v. Peritus 1 Assets Management, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44357

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment in Favor of Peritus

The only claim at issue in this appeal is Bailey's breach of contract claim against Peritus, which is based on an alleged breach of the AMF Employment Agreement. For the reasons set forth below, the District Court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Peritus on that claim should be affirmed.

1. Bailey Concedes that Peritus was Never his Employer and did Not Guarantee Wages Allegedly Owed to Him by AMF

Bailey generally asserts the AMF Employment Agreement contractually obligates Peritus to pay the wages and severance allegedly earned by Bailey as an employee of AMF.² However, Bailey's theories and his factual allegations have changed drastically since filing his Complaint.

First, Bailey's Complaint initially alleged, in very specific terms, that Peritus, Desmond, Heller, Gramatovich and Forgie all agreed to personally guarantee Bailey's wages during an April 12, 2007 meeting of the AMF Board of Directors:

On or about April 12, 2007, AMF had a Board of Directors meeting wherein it was determined by Desmond, Heller, Tim

Peritus disputes that AMF owed Bailey the amounts claimed in his Complaint. Nevertheless, this appeal focuses solely on the legal question of whether Peritus can be held liable for any debts allegedly owed by AMF.

Gramatovich and Bob Forgie (as Directors of [AMF] and employees of Peritus) to hire Bailey as the CEO of AMF and to employ him on a written employment contract wherein **they personally and Peritus would guarantee payment of Bailey's salary** and other compensation.

R. 000012 at ¶ 11 (emphasis added).

Bailey has since disavowed that theory. In response to discovery requests, Bailey admitted that "[t]here was no guarantee from any individual or entity." *See* R. 000162 (Answer to Interrogatory No. 12); *see also* R. 000092-93 (Bailey Depo., 96:4-6; 100:24 - 101:3) (admitting that Peritus did not promise to guarantee Bailey's wages).

Second, while Bailey's Complaint alleged that he was employed by "AMF and Peritus" (R. 000012 at ¶ 12), he has since admitted in response to Peritus' motion to dismiss that "AMF was Bailey's only employer." *See* R. 000042; *see also* R. 000041 ("Again, Peritus and Heller were not Bailey's employer").

Third, while Bailey's Complaint alleged that "Peritus is believed to be the primary shareholder of AMF and is therefore liable for the debts of AMF" (R. 000010 at ¶ 3), Bailey acknowledged during his deposition that Peritus does not own any stock in AMF and never has. *See* R. 000088, 000180 (Bailey Depo., 78:2-80:22; Exh. 10). As discussed below, these admissions significantly impact Bailey's breach of contract claim against Peritus.

2. Shareholders (Much Less Creditors) are Not Liable for the Alleged Debts of a Corporation

Bailey's Complaint offers the conclusory assertion that "Peritus is believed to be the primary shareholder of AMF and is therefore liable for the debts of AMF." *See* R. 000010 at ¶ 3. As set forth above, however, Peritus simply is not and never has been a shareholder of AMF. At one point in time, the <u>PGO Fund</u> -- a now dissolved legal entity -- was AMF's largest

shareholder. However, that legal entity dissolved and all shares went to the limited partners of the PGO Fund individually. Peritus does not own any shares in AMF and never has. *See* R. 000180. Peritus is merely one of many creditors that has loaned money to AMF. *Id*.

Even if Peritus was a shareholder of AMF, shareholders of a corporation are not liable for the debts of corporation. Absent piercing of the corporate veil, which has never been alleged, "the stockholders of a corporation are not personally liable for corporate obligations." *Davidson v. Beco Corp.*, 112 Idaho 560, 568-569 (Ct. App. 1986), partially overruled on other grounds, 114 Idaho 107 (1987). In any event, Bailey does not appear to assert on appeal that Peritus' is liable to Bailey because of any alleged status as a shareholder.

3. Only Employers are Liable for an Employee's Wages

Neither shareholders nor entities that loan funds to a corporation are liable for an employee's wages. Rather, only employers are liable for an employee's wages. *See* I.C. §45-608 ("Employers shall pay all wages due to their employees...."). As one court has explained:

The duty to pay wages is an obligation that can only arise from the employer-employee relationship....Plaintiffs here were employed by Kline. Aquatic had no control over the manner in which the diving operations were conducted. It is clear that plaintiffs were not employees of Aquatic. There being no employer-employee relationship, Aquatic cannot owe them wages.

Jernigan v. Lay Barge Delta Five, 296 F. Supp. 127, 128-29 (S.D. Tex. 1969).

Bailey's Complaint alleges that he was employed by both "AMF and Peritus." However, Bailey disavowed that theory in an attempt to obtain tort damages against the individual defendants, and Bailey has since admitted that "AMF was Bailey's only employer." *See* R. 000042. Given the undisputed fact that AMF was Bailey's only employer, AMF alone is legally responsible for Bailey's wages absent some form of guarantee.

4. Bailey Has Conceded that Peritus did Not Guarantee His Wages

Even though Bailey's Complaint specifically alleged that Peritus guaranteed his wages, he has since disavowed that theory and admitted that "[t]here was no guarantee from any individual or entity." *See* R. 000162. While now disavowing any guarantee, Bailey still asserts that Peritus is somehow obligated to pay wages allegedly owed to him by AMF. *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 19 ("Peritus made a promise to answer for the obligation of AMF"). That claim is based entirely on the AMF Employment Agreement. *Id.*; *see also* R. 000341-343 (proposed Amended Complaint, ¶ 28-35). No matter how Bailey characterizes the alleged promise by Peritus to pay his wages earned as an employee of AMF -- i.e., a "guarantee," a "surety," or some other label -- such a claim falls squarely within the statute of frauds.

The statute of frauds requires that any alleged promise to pay the debt of another be in writing to be enforceable. Specifically, the statute of frauds provides:

In the following cases the agreement is invalid, unless the same or some note or memorandum thereof, be in writing and subscribed by the party charged, or by his agent. Evidence, therefore, of the agreement cannot be received without the writing or secondary evidence of its contents:

. . . .

2. A special promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another, except in the cases provided for in section 9-506, Idaho Code.

I.C. § 9-505(2).

While no longer using the term "guarantee," Bailey's allegation that Peritus promised to pay wages Bailey earned as an employee of AMF still falls squarely within the statute of frauds as a "promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another." *Id.* An alleged contract that falls within the statute of frauds "is unenforceable if there is not a sufficient writing to

comply with the statute of frauds." *Mickelsen Construction, Inc. v. Horrocks*, 154 Idaho 396, 401 (2013). "In order to render an oral contract falling within the scope of the statute of frauds enforceable by action, the memorandum thereof must state the contract with <u>such certainty that</u> <u>its essentials can be known from the memorandum itself</u>, or by a reference contained in it to some other writing, without recourse to parol proof to supply them." *Id.* at 402 (emphasis added). "The memorandum which evidences the verbal agreement <u>must contain all the terms</u> <u>of that agreement</u>." *Id.* (emphasis added). "Otherwise, it cannot be enforced at law or in equity." *Id.*

As explained in *Mickelsen*, an alleged promise to pay the obligations of another must be contained in a written memorandum that (1) evidences an "intent by [a defendant] to be liable for the obligation of some other person or entity," (2) "name[s] or identif[ies] the person or entity that is primarily liable"; and (3) "specif[ies] what obligation of that person or entity is allegedly being guaranteed." *Id.* at 402 (concluding that a signed document did not satisfy the statute of frauds because it failed to meet these requirements).

The AMF Employment Agreement does not satisfy any of these requirements. Just like the insufficient written document in *Mickelsen*, the AMF Employment Agreement "does not show any intent by either of the Defendants to be liable for the obligation of some other person or entity." *Id.* at 402. It "does not name or identify the person or entity that is primarily liable, and it does not specify what obligation of that person or entity is allegedly being guaranteed." *Id.* And, "[t]here is nothing on the [AMF Employment Agreement] indicating that [Peritus] agreed to guaranty any obligation of [AMF] to [Bailey]." *Id.*

Regardless of how it is now characterized by Bailey, the AMF Employment Agreement simply does not state that Peritus will pay the wages Bailey allegedly owed to him by AMF. In fact, the body of the AMF Employment Agreement does not make a single reference to Peritus. Instead, it refers only to AMF. The very first line of the agreement states that it is "a letter of Employment with American Medical File, Inc. (OnFile)." *See* R. 000019. It then goes on to describe Bailey's obligations to AMF, including his role as a "member of the Board of Directors of American Medical File to which you and [the CEO] will provide regular reports." *Id.*

The most basic provision of the agreement alleged by Bailey -- that Peritus would pay the wages Bailey earned during his employment with AMF -- is nowhere to be found. Indeed, Bailey admitted in his deposition that there was no such agreement:

Q. Does this contract say who was going to pay your salary?

A. I think it talks about who I work for. It's a letter of employment from American Medical File, but I don't see -- I don't remember any agreement on who was going to pay....

See R. 000098 (Bailey Depo., 119:16-21).

The AMF Employment Agreement simply does not satisfy the statute of frauds.³ In fact, Bailey does not contend that the AMF Employment Agreement satisfies the statute of frauds.

The Court may not look to parole evidence to support Bailey's claim that Peritus promised to pay his wages. *See Mickelsen*, 154 Idaho at 402 (to satisfy the statute of frauds, "the memorandum thereof must state the contract with such certainty that its essentials can be known from the memorandum itself, or by a reference contained in it to some other writing, without recourse to parol proof to supply them"). Even if the Court were to look beyond the four corners of the AMF Employment Agreement, Bailey's conduct unambiguously corroborates the fact that Peritus never agreed to pay his wages. Shortly after walking out on AMF, Bailey sent two demand letters (from two experienced lawyers) addressed only to AMF, asserting that "American Medical File, Inc." owed Bailey wages and severance. *See* Bailey Depo., Exhs. 19-20. Neither letter makes any mention of Peritus even though Bailey knew AMF was over

Instead, he argues that the statute of frauds does not apply to the AMF Employment Agreement because that agreement creates an "original obligation" under Idaho Code § 9-506(2).

5. The District Court Correctly Rejected Bailey's New "Original Obligation" Theory

In response to Peritus' motion for summary judgment, Bailey disavowed the guarantee theory pled in his Complaint. Instead, he asserted for the first time that Peritus' alleged promise to pay the wages Bailey earned as an employee of AMF falls within the "original obligation" exception to the statute of frauds as provided for in Idaho Code § 9-506(2). The District Court correctly rejected that argument for multiple reasons.

a) Bailey Cannot Rely on the Original Obligation Exception Because He Alleges that AMF Remained Liable for His Wages

Although now avoiding any "guarantee" terminology, Bailey still asserts that "Peritus made a promise to answer for the obligation of AMF." *See* Appellant's Brief, p. 19. As set forth in Idaho Code § 9-505(2), such a "promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another" must be contained in a written document that satisfies the statute of frauds "except in the cases provided for in section 9-506, Idaho Code."

Idaho Code § 9-506(2) creates a narrow exception to the statute of frauds that applies only "[w]here the creditor parts with value, or enters into an obligation, in consideration of the obligations in respect to which the promise is made, in terms or under circumstances such as to render the party making the promise the principal debtor, and the person in whose behalf it is made, his surety." Bailey's new reliance on Idaho Code § 9-506(2) must be rejected as a matter of law for the reasons explained by the Idaho Supreme Court just a few years ago in *Mickelsen*

\$15,000,000 in debt.

Const., Inc. v. Horrocks, 154 Idaho 396 (2013). That case raised issues, arguments and a procedural posture almost identical to those presented here.

In *Mickelsen*, Accelerated Paving owed Mickelsen \$34,980. Mickelsen filed a lawsuit against Sunshine Secretarial Services and Lesa Horrock, individually, alleging specifically that they agreed to "guarantee" Accelerated Paving's obligation to Mickelsen. When confronted with a statute of frauds defense, Mickelsen asserted that alleged promise to pay Accelerated Paving's obligation was an "original obligation" under Idaho Code § 9-506(2). In granting summary judgment in favor of the defendants, the Court first noted that Mickelsen had not pled an "original obligation" claim under Idaho Code § 9-506(2), but instead pled a personal guarantee theory. *See id.* at 405 ("Because the complaint in the instant case only alleged a guaranty, it did not allege a claim under Idaho Code Section 9–506(2)....[T]he only issues considered on summary judgment are those raised by the pleadings.").

Mickelsen's allegation of a personal guarantee precluded him from relying on the "original obligation" exception in Idaho Code § 9-506(2) because "[a]n allegation of an agreement to guaranty a debt and an allegation of an agreement under section 9-506(2) are mutually exclusive." *Id.* at 404. To be excepted from the statute of frauds under section 9-506(2), a defendant "would have had to agree to become 'the principal debtor." *Id.* "One cannot be both the principal debtor who has defaulted and the guarantor who is secondarily liable in the event of such default." *Id.*

In rejecting Mickelsen's claim of an "original obligation" under Idaho Code § 9-506(2), the Court explained that its decision was not based just on a pleading technicality. Rather, the defendants could not be "original obligors" or "principal debtors" because Mickelsen had alleged

that Accelerated Paving was still liable for the original obligation, in addition to Sunshine Secretarial Services and Lesa Horrock. *Id.* at 405 ("[i]f under the alleged agreement the creditor contended that the original debtors were still liable, then the defendants could not have become the principal debtors, which was necessary for section 9-506(2) to apply."); *see also Storer v. Heitfeld*, 19 Idaho 170 (1910) (if a plaintiff contends that the initial debtor is still "in any degree liable for the indebtedness," the defendant cannot be considered an original obligor); *Magee v. Winn*, 52 Idaho 553 (1932) (a defendant cannot be an original obligor "if plaintiff held defendant's sister still responsible to him," and under such circumstances an alleged promise by the defendant to answer for his sister's obligation is governed by the statute of frauds).

The District Court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Peritus for the reasons set forth in *Mickelsen*. First, Bailey's Complaint specifically alleges that Peritus agreed to "guarantee" wages owed by AMF, making it impossible for Peritus to also be the principal debtor. *See* R. 000012 at ¶11. Second, and more importantly, Peritus cannot be the "principal debtor" because Bailey affirmatively alleges that AMF remained obligated to pay the wages he earned as an employee of AMF. *See* R. 000284 (Bailey's Brief in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment, acknowledging: "It is true that AMF was Bailey's employer and was obligated to pay Bailey."). Bailey's paychecks came from AMF, not Peritus. *See* R. 000214. Indeed, Bailey sent AMF two demand letters shortly after the termination of his employment alleging that AMF owed him unpaid wages and severance, without so much as mentioning Peritus (R. 000215-220) and later suit against AMF to collect the obligation he now contends is owed by Peritus. *See* R. 000009.

The Court's analysis should stop here because Bailey's argument under Idaho Code § 5-906(2) is foreclosed as a matter of law under *Mickelsen*. However, summary judgment can be affirmed for the additional reasons as set forth below.

b) The AMF Employment Agreement does Not Support Bailey's New "Original Obligation" Theory

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